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The town of ASmén, the old Hermupolis Magna, the Greek name of
which appears in the arabic Vita of Pachomios as Ermabdlis ¢y 920058 (1)
is for the first time mentioned in PERF no. 585, (dated 75 A.H.). As
is shown by the epithet &iyove, 1t was already in that year the capital of
the district (kdra), as also Hmunu was the capital of the ‘‘nome of the
hare”’. This place is frequently mentioned in the course of the IInd
and Illrd Century of the Higra®. The latest documentary evidence for
Asmln is PERF no. goq (dated 320/a1 A. H.). Apparently the town
was divided into an Upper- and Lower-town, (,sed] Jst and . pend Jiwl,
as also the district of ASm@n was divided at a very early date into two
subdistricts, which were separate administrative umts, and bore the same
name. This partition into two districts continued in the Illrd Century of
the Higra®. There1s no evidence whether either of these district-capitals
(Upper- and Lower ASmin) is identical with the modern al-USminain,

M Gf, J. Maseero et G. Wier, Matériaux pour servir a la géographie de Z’E'gypte,
MIFAQ, XXXVI (Cairo 1919), p. 20.

M Cf. P. Hedd., 111, 21; P. Ryl. Arab., 1V, nos. 1,, 2., 3., 4, 5°, VI, no. 5,
XV, nos. 34,, 62,; PERF no. 837, (273 A. H.); PER Inv. Ar. Pap. 960 +/, (IlIrd
Century of the Higra), 980, (al4 A. H.) 1841, f. (a67 A. H.), 1792, (Ilnd Cen-
tury of the Higra); PSR no. 243 5/, (212 A. H.); P. Berol. 12789, (287 A. H.), ete.

®) Cf. A .Groumann, Probleme der arabischen Papyrusforschung, 1, Archav Ortentalnt,
I11 (1931), p. 385 .
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clearly resulting from joining both capitals into one. But the name al-
Usmtinam, already occurs about the middle of the IInd Century of the
Higra and is more frequently used about the Illrd and during the
IVth Century, in the course of which it entirely supersides the old name
Asmdn. .

Unfortunately we do not learn much from the Arabic papyri about
this old district capital.

It appears that it was divided into four sections, according to the
four cardinal points, 355..3! sl ‘3)"_; and Js"é being mentioned in
papyri of the second half of the IInd Century of the Higra®. That
means—iIn comparison with the Ptolemaic period—seemingly a more
definite subdividing of the town-area, which in this Greek epoch was
only divided into an East- and West-hallf.

In the West-section a street of Muhammad “AbbAs 1s situated, and a
contract of sale, dated 441 A. H. (1055 A. D.) preserved in the Egyptian
[ibrary, mentions a hill in the northern section looking down to the
Chapel of the Holy Virgin; not far from this place the well called as-
Sa'tdi was situated as well as a Mushm cemetery called B4 Tdrbon, in
which the Roman name Turbo has obviously survived ®. In the east-
section of Asmfn the ¢‘Church of the Apostles”  wlaws &waS was
situated, furthermore the quarter (or street) of Ibrahim ibn Ishdq ibn
Musakka, where also a mosque was to be found®. Of course al-Us-
minain possessed also a Great-Mosque, mentioned in a paper of the
Rainer Collection in Vienna. The great marked had its place in the
quarter of a mosque, the name of which 1s unfortunately not mentioned .
The site of the ¢<Street of the two monuments’ o ):,‘Q!LA , furnished

Y PERF no. 837 .. (273 A. H.); PER Inv. Ar. Pap. 1841 f. (267 A. H.);
P. Hambg. Arab. no. 12 b line 1 f. (p. o, 58); A. Grormann, Arabic Papyri in the
Egyptian Library, I, no. 64 f. (p. 216).

™ For TOYPBWN see now A. VoerLiaxo, Secondo Rapporto degli scavt condott:
dalla missione archeologica d’Egttto della R. Unwversita di Milano nella zona di Madinet
Madi ( Campagna inverno ¢ primavera 1936-XIV*) Milano 1937, p. 45.

®) PERF no. 837 £.(273 A. IL): Gy hix L) 158 § o puidl ol 13! Yyio
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with a public fountain, and the « StI‘eE':t of Tabart’s bath » s yabo f'l?' -
are also not known, as no further details are offered by the documents (v,

In a paper, dated 674 A. H. (1276 A. D.) and belonging to the Rainer

Collection there is a question of a communication, which, at the same
level as the ¢ Way of the Cross” leads to the ‘“‘al-Hagg Halfl ibn Hasan-
Street’’, also called ¢¢Cross-Street’’®, The name “Cross—-Street.” ob-
viously points to the Christian sphere, and the street was further on named
after a Mushim citizen of that town. A Church of Ab# (Quzman (St. Gosmas)
gave 1ts name to a district of which nothing further is known ®., The
same 1S the case with the finance-office, which, of course, was well
known to any citizen of the town, and we also not know, where the High

Tribunal ( Ryl X Whse) is to be searched for @),

The town was famous for the manufacture of cloth bearing its name.

The manufactory ,,euf 3}, 1s already mentioned in two papyri of the
lInd or Illrd Century of the Higra and in a paper of the IVth Gentury,

all preserved in the Egyptian Library®. It is significant of the réle

plaYed by al-Usminain in commerce, that this town had a special pound

standard-weight 3 ,euy o, 21 @, Finally it may be noticed that'Usmfni-

cheese was a well known product of Egyptian agriculture

According to the model of Roman towns in Egypt, domanial grounds

appertained to the area of the City.  Such ““ domains in the town”’ (&laalt

U:u sead) &oog )—this clearly means belonging to the Evopim—are occa-
sionally mentioned in the papyri. The agents of the magnates had their

residence here, and here the auction of domanial grounds to lessees was
effected ®),

O Arabic Papyri in the Egyptian Library, 11, 1 |
¥, i1, no. 138 S 100 . 905, .
) PERF no. 13aa. orrer B o

) Arabic Papyri in the Egyptian Library, 11
Y, 11, no. 126 pp. 180, 238.
" MPER ', (1887), p. 8. ¥

) Arabic Papyrt in the Egyptian Library, 11, 'no. 117 . (p. 153 f.) and P. Cair.

B. E. Inv. no. 710.

) Arabic Papyri in the Egyptian Library, II, p. 173.
(7) 3 468V} w...# PER Inv. Chart. Ar. 70385.
® PER Inv. Chart. Ar. 7000,, 7016 b, 1. 1; PSR 243, a5;.
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As capital of a dustrict, which in times was very extensive, ASmin or
o]-Asmiinain was also the residence of a post-master pod O 5 walo,
who was at the same time the local head of the Secret police, and a
commander of high military rank (walt al-harb) @, who possibly had to
control the garrison In this 1mportant district, which had different
strongholds, as Qasr south of Asmtn and Qasr Pesla on the right bank
of the Nile. That this part of Upper-LEgypt was regarded in some respects
as a frontier district, is shown by the fact that ships comimg irom the
Thebais had to pay a toll (TE)\ajmov) at Hermupolitana Phylake, the
modern Derwa SarAbamin (.

It must be confessed that what we can learn of t0p0graphical details
about the town of Asmén and 1ts district from Arabic papyr still re-
sembles scattered pieces of mosaic rather than a complete picture of the
town. Still it is to be hoped that further finds of papyr will complete
our knowledge of the town 1n the early Arabic period. Unfortunately the
Arab stratum of al-Usmfinain has been completely destroyed by the
Sabbdhin, as far it 1s not covered by the modern village, so that the veri-
fication of the data of the papyri on the spot 1s no longer possible.

Dr. A. GROHMANN.

M P, Ryl. Arab., 1V, nos. 1, (136 A. H.), 2, (133 A.H.), 3, (127 A.H.), h (134
A. H.), 5,; MPER (1887), p- 89.
®) Cf. G. Maspero, Notes au jour le jour IV, PSBA, XIV (18g2), pp. 196-200.



